

Original Research Article

Effect of fertilization on yield and NPK contents in Red Ginger

.ABSTRACT

Aims: The aim of the research was to evaluate the effect of NPK fertilization on Red Ginger yield and nutrient content of mature plants.

Study design: 16 treatments were defined from combinations of N (0, 108, 216, 322 kg ha⁻¹), P (0, 4, 10, 14 kg ha⁻¹) and K (0, 90, 178, 268 kg ha⁻¹). The treatments with three replications were set up in complete random blocks. The experimental unit was one cluster with stems.

Place and Duration of Study: The study was conducted from February 2012 to January 2013 on a 10-years-old commercial plantation. The plantation is located at 18°17'43.49" N and 93°12'28.68" W in Comalcalco, Tabasco, Mexico.

Methodology: Each 15 days along a year were recorded variables for the cluster, and for commercial stems and flowers. Then one plant per experimental unit was separated into flower, leaf, stem and rhizome to analyze NPK. With the data, an analysis of variance, means comparison (Tukey, P ≤ 0.05), and Pearson correlation were performed.

Results: With the dosage 216-00-99, the plants developed the largest stem (2.17 cm) and flower (6.33 cm) diameters and the highest dry commercial (28.89 g) and total (199.3 g) biomass. The highest fresh weight of the non-commercial biomass (383.2 g) was found in plants fertilized with 322-04-90, but this value was statistically equal to that obtained with the dosage 216-00-00 (335.81 g). The NPK content found in Red Ginger leaf, stem, flower and rhizome satisfied the requirements established for P, but not for N and K. The N content was the unique nutrient correlated to the yield of Red Ginger.

Conclusion: The fertilization dosage 216-00-00 kg ha⁻¹ NPK was the best to favor Red Ginger yield. The NPK fertilization effects were observed on the content of K in stem and of P in flower, rhizome and leaf.

Keywords: *Alpinia purpurata*; tropical flowers; plant nutrient content; Red Ginger production.

1. INTRODUCTION

Red Ginger (*Alpinia purpurata* Vieill) is one of the most cultivated and demanded tropical ornamental species worldwide. When temperatures, humidity and fertilization are the required by the plant, Red Ginger flowering is constant year round [1]. Constant production of cut flowers suggests constant nutrients extraction and yield decrease in the future [2]. Therefore, fertilization is essential for successful cultivation of Red Ginger and can promote large benefits when used appropriately [3]. There are no specific rules for fertilizing tropical ornamentals since

Comment [U1]: research

Comment [U2]: not distinguished

Comment [U3]: worldwide

Comment [U4]: Rephrase the sentence for clarity

1 edaphoclimatic conditions are different in each region. Soil and leaf analyses are highly
2 recommended to determine the quantity of nutrients that should be applied [4, 5].

3

4 Among nutrients N, P and K are key for plant growth and flowering [6]. Therefore, at least these
5 elements should be analyzed both in the soil and in plant foliage. Levels of 2%, 16% and 18%
6 NPK in the foliage of *A. purpurata* indicate that the crop's nutritional state is good [1]. These
7 authors cited that in Red Ginger the more the N, the higher the number of floral stems.

8

Comment [U5]: This is not necessary in the introduction expunge

9 Of the total N absorbed from the soil by the plant, if there is a low proportion of NO_3^- in the soil,
10 a high proportion is reduced in the root, while if there is enough available NO_3^- , most is
11 transported to the shoot where it can accumulate in both stem and leaves [7] of plants. In most
12 plants, once absorbed, P is distributed from one organ to another; it accumulates in young
13 leaves, in flowers and developing seeds and is lost in old leaves [8]. Application of simple
14 superphosphate and organic fertilizers in *Alpinia zerumbet* crop resulted in a larger number of
15 stems and leaves per stem and higher levels of P in the plants to which chemical fertilizer was
16 applied than in those fertilized with organic fertilizers [9].

17

18 The K deficiency in crops results in weaker stems that make plants sensitive to the action of
19 wind and rain, particularly monocotyledons [7] such as ginger. Haque et al. [10] report that
20 growth and yield of *Zingiber officinale* increase significantly in accord with increments in levels
21 of K applied, up to 100 kg ha^{-1} .

22

Comment [U6]: Maintain a reference pattern..

23 Kobayashi et al. [1] recommend fertilizing ginger once or twice a year with formulas of 1:1:1 to
24 3:1:5 NPK. Lamas [5] recommends a dosage of 350-400, 200-250, 300-350 kg ha^{-1} NPK for a
25 plantation older than 13 months. In contrast, [4] indicates that fertilization is different for the
26 conditions of each region. Therefore, it is necessary to determine the nutritional requirements of
27 Red Ginger where it is actually produced. Based on the above, the objective of this study was to
28 evaluate the effect of application of different dosages of NPK on yield and nutrient content of
29 Red Ginger plants.

Comment [U7]: Maintain a reference pattern..

1 **2. MATERIAL AND METHODS**

2
3
4 **2.1. Experimental site**

5 The study was conducted from February 2012 to January 2013 on a 10-years-old commercial
6 plantation. The plantation is located 2 km north of the city of Comalcalco, Tabasco, Mexico, at
7 18°17'43.49" N and 93°12'28.68" W. The climate is Am (f) hot humid tropics with abundant
8 summer rains; annual precipitation 2000 mm, with a dry season in March and April, and mean
9 annual temperature of 26.5 °C [11].

Comment [U8]: Indicate degree, minutes and seconds

Comment [U9]: clarify

10
11 The soil type in the plantation was Eutric fluvisol, which is considered first class farm soil [12].
12 Its physical-chemical characteristics are pH 6.84, EC 0.01 ds m⁻¹, organic matter 3.49%, total N
13 0.17%, P Olsen 12.67 mg kg⁻¹, K 0.27 Cmol kg⁻¹, Ca 15.70 Cmol.kg⁻¹, Mg 3.34 Cmol.kg⁻¹, CIC
14 12.64 Cmol.kg⁻¹, Fe 45.37, Zn 2.13, clay 38%, silt 44 % and sand 18%, texture class crumb silty
15 clay. The Red Ginger plantation was in the open and plants were interspersed among cedar
16 trees (*Cedrela odorata* L.). Plant density is 2000 plants per ha, 5 m between rows and 1 m
17 between plants. Cultural practices included manual weeding and drip irrigation during the dry
18 season.

Comment [U10]: write full meaning for clarity

Comment [U11]: textural class

19
20 **2.2. Plant material and experimental design**

21 The plant material used was 48 Red Ginger clusters. Table 1 shows the nutrient content of the
22 commercial and non-commercial biomass of the plants before the experiment. The commercial
23 part included 60 cm of stem, two upper leaves and the flower. The non-commercial part
24 included the rest of the foliage and of the stem. With the leaf and soil analyses, together with
25 plant density, the dosage 108-04-90 kg ha⁻¹ NPK was estimated for the study plantation and
26 used as a relative control for the experiment. The experiment was set up under a design of
27 complete random blocks with three replications. The treatments were defined based on the San
28 Cristobal design [13] with combinations of N (0, 108, 216 and 322 kg ha⁻¹), P (0, 4, 10 and 14 kg
29 ha⁻¹) and K (0, 90, 178 and 268 kg ha⁻¹). The 16 NPK treatments were the absolute control (T1)
30 00-00-00 Kg ha⁻¹, 00-00-178, 00-10-00, 00-10-178, 108-04-90, 108-04-268, 108-14-90, 108-

Comment [U12]: ... materials used were

Comment [U13]: includes

Comment [U14]: rephrase for clarity

1 14-268, 216-00-00, 216-00-178, 216-10-00, 216-10-178, 322-04-90, 322-04-268, 322-14-90,
 2 and (T16)322-14-268 Kg ha⁻¹. The experimental unit was one cluster of plants.

3 **Table 1. Nutrient content of the commercial and non-commercial biomass from Red**
 4 **Ginger (*Alpinia purpurata*) plants before fertilization.**

<i>Red</i>	N	P	K	Ca	Mg	Na	Fe	Cu	Zn	Mn	S
<i>Ginger</i>	%						mg kg ⁻¹				
CB	0.68	0.27	1.39	0.61	0.20	0.09	70.46	4.76	76.00	20.32	0.24
NCB	1.36	0.24	1.57	0.83	0.31	0.05	99.0	4.88	40.72	26.50	0.74

5 CB, Commercial biomass. NCB, Non-commercial biomass. Methods: N semi-micro Kjeldahl, P,
 6 K, Ca, Mg, Na, Fe, Cu, Zn and Mn by digestion with HNO₃-HClO₄.

7
 8 The fertilizers used as the sources of NPK were urea (46% N), triple calcium superphosphate
 9 (46% P₂O₅) and potassium chloride (60 % K₂O). The fertilizer was placed around the cluster at
 10 a distance of 10 cm and ca. 5 cm of depth.

11
 12 **2.3. Measurements and statistical analysis**

13 The yield variables assessed, every 15 days, were those of the cluster, the commercial floral
 14 stem and the flower. The cluster variables recorded were cluster area (cm²), total number of
 15 floral stems (stems with at least two leaves), stems with closed flowers (bracts completely
 16 closed), stems with open flowers (1 to 50% open bracts), stems with commercial flowers (50 to
 17 100% open bracts). Each commercial stem was measured for length (cm) and diameter (cm, 2
 18 cm from the stem base), length of the apical leaf (cm, from the base of the leaf lamina to its
 19 apex), fresh and dry weight (g) of the commercial and non-commercial biomass, and total
 20 biomass (g). Commercial and non-commercial biomass was assessed as indicated for Table 1.
 21 Total biomass was the sum of dry commercial and non-commercial biomass. On the
 22 commercial flower, diameter (cm, from mid-length of the inflorescence) and longitude (cm, from
 23 the base of the inflorescence to the apex) were measured.

Comment [U15]: ..and stems with commercial flowers...

1 At the end of the experiment NPK content was analyzed in one plant per experimental unit.
2 Before analysis, the plant was divided into flower, leaf, stem and rhizome. Each organ was
3 sectioned and placed in a drying oven at 50 °C until constant weight. The dry samples were
4 ground and sent to the Plant, Soil and Water Analysis Laboratory at the Graduate College -
5 Campus Tabasco. Determination of NPK content in the plant samples was done following NOM-
6 021-SEMARNAT-2000 by the micro-Kjeldahl, Olsen and gas chromatography methods,
7 respectively. Data were subject to analysis of variance (ANOVA), means comparison (Tukey, (P
8 ≤ 0.05) and a Pearson correlation. The statistical software used was SAS V.9.4 for Windows.

Comment [U16]: were

Comment [U17]: for constant weight

Comment [U18]: milled

9 10 3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION 11

12 3.1 Effect of NPK fertilization on yield

13 The ANOVA indicated an effect of NPK fertilization on diameter of floral stem ($F_{15,30} = 1.94$, $P =$
14 $.05$), flower diameter ($F_{15, 30} = 2.34$, $P = .02$), non-commercial biomass fresh weight ($F_{15, 30} =$
15 2.89 , $P = .006$), commercial biomass dry weight ($F_{15, 30} = 2.38$, $P = .02$) and total biomass ($F_{15, 30}$
16 $= 8.49$, $P = .0001$). There was no effect of fertilization on the other variables. The largest stem
17 diameter (SD) was obtained with treatment 216-00-00. This SD was statistically different only
18 from that obtained with treatment 216-00-178 (Table 2).

19
20 Although many plant characteristics are determined genetically [7], in general, the SD recorded
21 in our study are larger than those reported by [2]. These authors applied 150-50-250 kg ha⁻¹
22 NPK and achieved SD of 1.73 and 1.62 cm in ginger at two different sites. [14], with a
23 fertilization of 50 kg ha⁻¹ N, reported a stem diameter of 2.02 cm in Red Ginger plants. [5] and
24 [15] stated SD could be homogenized by pruning very thin stems during crop development. This
25 practice help to obtain more uniform commercial stems. For commercialization, [14] classify Red
26 Ginger stems by its diameter into type A (> 1 cm) and type B (< 1 cm). The stems obtained in
27 our study were classified as type A.

Comment [U19]: ... are determined genetically.
In general...

Comment [U20]: ... in this study...

Comment [U21]: ... in this study

28
29 The flower diameter (FD) obtained with treatment 215-00-00 (6.33 cm) was statistically superior
30 to that obtained with treatments 5, 10 and 15 (Table 2). [14] reported a FD of 8.63 cm for totally

1 expanded Red Ginger inflorescences. [2] reported a FD of 7.9 and 8.4 cm when 150-50-250 kg
 2 ha⁻¹ NPK were applied to Red Ginger at two different sites.

3
 4 The highest NCBFW value was recorded for plants fertilized with 322-04-90 kg ha⁻¹ NPK, but it
 5 was statistically equal to that obtained with the treatment 216-00-00. Both values were
 6 statistically superior to that obtained with the absolute control but equal to that obtained with the
 7 other treatments. This can be attributed to the absence of NPK macroelements in the control
 8 since these elements are essential in the synthesis of molecules for growth [16]. [17] quoted
 9 that N is the most important nutrient in growth and flowering of *Zingiberaceae* plants, and the N
 10 content in plants is 67% lower in plants without a complete NPK fertilization. In *Tagetes* spp.,
 11 higher N and P applications increase plant growth, flower yield and leaf nutrient content [6].

Comment [U22]: The full meaning should be stated before using accronium for clarity.

Comment [U23]: Reported...

12
 13 **Table 2. Effect of NPK fertilization on yield variables of Red Ginger.**

Treatment NPK (Kg ha ⁻¹)	SD (cm)	FD (cm)	NCBFW (g)	CBDW (g)	TB (g)
T1 00-00-00	1.77 ab	5.63 ab	235.56 b	23.90 ab	120.00 c
T2 00-00-178	1.87 ab	5.63 ab	359.75 ab	22.16 ab	94.05 c
T3 00-10-00	1.87 ab	5.50 ab	293.23 ab	21.32 ab	95.07 c
T4 00-10-178	1.80 ab	5.80 ab	268.49 ab	20.64 b	128.00 c
T5 108-04-90	1.87 ab	5.27 b	330.27 ab	27.51 ab	102.30 c
T6 108-04-268	2.07 ab	5.77 ab	318.01 ab	25.83 ab	122.40 c
T7 108-14-90	1.83 ab	5.47 ab	354.19 ab	27.20 ab	107.10 c
T8 108-14-268	1.83 ab	5.50 ab	380.13 a	24.75 ab	103.60 c
T9 216-00-00	2.17 a	6.33 a	335.81 ab	28.89 a	199.30 ab
T10 216-00-178	1.67 b	5.07 b	277.13 ab	22.45 ab	161.10 abc
T11 216-10-00	1.80 ab	5.57 ab	328.11 ab	25.26 ab	122.40 c
T12 216-10-178	1.83 ab	5.57 ab	348.50 ab	27.60 ab	228.80 a
T13 322-04-90	1.90 ab	6.03 ab	383.29 a	24.75 ab	109.10 c

T14	322-04-268	1.93 ab	5.73 ab	285.32 ab	24.15 ab	163.30 abc
T15	322-14-90	1.77 ab	5.30 b	343.79 ab	23.74 ab	136.90 bc
T16	322-14-268	1.87 ab	5.70 ab	330.30 ab	24.90 ab	96.37 c

1 ST, Stem diameter. FD, Commercial flower diameter, NCBFW. Non-commercial biomass fresh
2 weight. CBDW, Commercial biomass dry weight. TB, Total biomass.

3 n = 72. Means with same letter in a column are not significantly different (Tukey, $P \leq .05$).

Comment [U24]: Acronym does not corresponds eg SD (Stem diameter) not ST

4
5 The commercial biomass dry weight (CBDW) from plants fertilized with treatment 216-00-00
6 was statistically superior to that obtained from plants fertilized with treatment 00-10-178, but
7 equal to that obtained in the rest of the treatments (Table 2). These results, however, are lower
8 than the 49.8 g reported by [4] for commercial Red Ginger dry matter. The highest total biomass
9 weight (TB) was obtained in plants fertilized with treatment 216-10-178. This weight was
10 statistically equal to that recorded for treatments 9, 10 and 14, but different from weights
11 recorded for the other treatments (Table 2). These results agree to [4], who reported TB values
12 of 206 g per ginger stem. [16], for *Etilingera eliator* Jack (*Zingiberaceae*), reported a TB value of
13 311.57 g, which is higher than our results since this species is larger than *A. purpurata* (Red
14 Ginger).

16 3.2 Effect of NPK fertilization on nutrient content and its relationship with yield

17 The ANOVA indicated only the effect of the treatments on K content in the stem ($F_{15, 30} = 2.82$, P
18 = .008) and P content in the flower ($F_{15, 30} = 2.02$, $P = .05$), leaf ($F_{15, 30} = 4.08$, $P = .0005$) and
19 rhizome ($F_{15, 30} = 2.16$, $P = .035$). This effect was confirmed by the comparison of means (Table
20 3). Regarding K in the stem, treatment 00-10-178 was statistically superior to treatments 1, 3, 6,
21 8, 9 and 13, but equal to the relative control and to the other treatments. The K content in stem
22 obtained with these treatments was similar to 1.85% reported by [4] as the level required by the
23 plant. In terms of stem N content, none of the treatments satisfied the N requirements of 0.78%
24 reported by [4], but all the treatments surpassed the P content of 0.23% cited by the same
25 author as the level required by the plant.

1 The P content in flowers of plants fertilized with treatment 00-10-178 was statistically superior to
2 relative control but equal to the absolute control. The P content in all of the treatments was
3 equal to or superior to the flower P level recommended by [4], but the N and K contents were
4 lower than the recommendations of the same author for the species and variety used in our
5 study.

Comment [U25]: ..in this ..

1 **Table 3. Effect of fertilization dosages in the NPK content (%) of Red Ginger flower, leaf, stem and rhizome, 12 months after application.**

NPK (Kg ha ⁻¹) Treatment	Flower			Leaf			Stem			Rhizome		
	N	P	K	N	P	K	N	P	K	N	P	K
T1 00-00-00	0.93 a	0.24 ab	1.45 a	1.91 ab	0.21 abc	1.52 b	0.35 a	0.30 a	1.58 b	0.32 a	0.32 a	1.32 a
T2 00-00-178	0.96 a	0.21 ab	1.77 a	1.97 ab	0.19 c	1.85 ab	0.38 a	0.26 a	1.86 ab	0.35 a	0.25 a	1.69 a
T3 00-10-00	0.93 a	0.21 ab	1.61 a	1.88 ab	0.20 c	1.55 ab	0.38 a	0.25 a	1.61 b	0.35 a	0.26 a	1.26 a
T4 00-10-178	0.93 a	0.29 a	2.22 a	2.00 ab	0.25 ab	2.05 a	0.38 a	0.34 a	2.45 a	0.33 a	0.38 a	1.55 a
T5 108-04-90	0.92 a	0.18 b	1.85 a	2.00 ab	0.19 c	1.61 ab	0.40 a	0.25 a	1.85 ab	0.49 a	0.26 a	1.65 a
T6 108-04-268	0.90 a	0.23 ab	1.67 a	1.87 ab	0.19 c	1.63 ab	0.46 a	0.29 a	1.66 ab	0.43 a	0.36 a	1.57 a
T7 108-14-90	0.99 a	0.22 ab	1.63 a	2.00 ab	0.19 c	1.58 ab	0.41 a	0.32 a	1.64 b	0.43 a	0.41 a	1.50 a
T8 108-14-268	0.95 a	0.27 ab	1.77 a	1.93 ab	0.21 abc	1.79 ab	0.43 a	0.30 a	1.52 b	0.40 a	0.31 a	1.58 a
T9 216-00-00	0.96 a	0.24 ab	2.11 a	1.94 ab	0.20 c	1.67 ab	0.46 a	0.23 a	1.57 b	0.35 a	0.23 a	1.46 a
T10 216-00-178	1.04 a	0.23 ab	1.88 a	2.23 a	0.25 a	1.65 ab	0.47 a	0.31 a	1.82 ab	0.35 a	0.39 a	1.78 a
T11 216-10-00	1.07 a	0.23 ab	1.77 a	2.00 ab	0.22 abc	1.66 ab	0.61 a	0.30 a	1.71 b	0.58 a	0.31 a	1.67 a
T12 216-10-178	0.99 a	0.23 ab	1.96 a	1.94 ab	0.20 bc	1.69 ab	0.40 a	0.27 a	1.97 ab	0.46 a	0.25 a	1.73 a
T13 322-04-90	1.02 a	0.22 ab	1.79 a	1.88 ab	0.21 abc	1.74 ab	0.49 a	0.30 a	1.62 b	0.35 a	0.27 a	1.67 a
T14 322-04-268	0.98 a	0.24 ab	1.81 a	1.70 b	0.21 abc	1.65 ab	0.37 a	0.33 a	1.76 ab	0.33 a	0.32 a	1.54 a
T15 322-14-90	1.03 a	0.24 ab	1.92 a	1.94 ab	0.21 abc	1.81 ab	0.46 a	0.29 a	1.95 ab	0.34 a	0.34 a	1.66 a
T16 322-14-268	0.99 a	0.25 ab	1.75 a	1.88 ab	0.21 abc	1.75 ab	0.46 a	0.28 a	1.76 ab	0.41 a	0.34 a	1.49 a

2 Means with same letter in a column are not significantly different (Tukey, $P \leq .05$).

3 In general, the nutrient contents in Red Ginger leaf, stem and flower satisfied the level
4 established for P but not for N or K. This could indicate that the soil is rich in P but not in N or
5 K. In soils of humid tropic available N and K are low [18]. Another explanation is that the
6 analyses were done one year after fertilization and total N content and K diminishes a year
7 after soil fertilization due leaching by high precipitation in wet tropical regions [18].

8

9 Likewise, N is shifted toward new leaves as the consequence of its high mobility in the
10 phloem [19]. In many species, P and N interact closely as the plant matures. In most plants,
11 P is easily take off from one organ to another and is lost in old leaves, while accumulating in
12 young leaves, flowers and developing seeds. K is an element that activates many essential
13 enzymes in photosynthesis, respiration, and formation of proteins and starch; it also
14 contributes in an important way to cell osmosis [8]. This can be observed in the positive
15 correlation between N and P in the flower ($r^2 = 88$, $P = .04$) and in the stem ($r^2 = 99$, $P =$
16 $.005$) and in the correlation of N in the leaf with P in the stem ($r^2 = 98$, $P = .01$) and N in the
17 stem with K in the leaf ($r^2 = 99$, $P = .005$).

18

19 With the exception of flower P content, which correlated with SD, the N contents in the
20 different yield components was the only element correlated with the yield variables. The TB
21 correlated positively with N content in leaf ($r^2 = 0.87$, $P = .04$), rhizome ($r^2 = 0.91$, $P = .03$)
22 and stem ($r^2 = 0.97$, $P = .01$). The SD correlated with N content in rhizome ($r^2 = 91$, $P = -$
23 $.03$). The FD correlated with N in the stem ($r^2 = 0.82$, $P = .006$), NCBFW with N in the leaf (r^2
24 $= 0.84$, $P = -.06$), and CBDW correlated with N in the flower ($r^2 = 93$, $P = .03$). This can be
25 due to the fact that N is essential to plant growth required by plants and is an important
26 component of amino acids, proteins, nucleic acids, growth regulators and chlorophyll
27 formation [3]. Another possible explanation is its presence in the rhizomes. The rhizomes
28 contain a large quantity of nutrients and water, which are transferred in large proportions to
29 the stem and leaves [20], thus permitting constant development and blooming of ginger,

30 which requires constant mobility of N. This is important because the rhizomes, besides
31 vegetative propagation [21], make the plants more resistant to adverse conditions [22] and
32 can provide more dry matter to the flower stem and thus greater postharvest durability [5,
33 23].

34

35 An adequate level of N in tissues results in good sized, vigorous plants with good green
36 coloring and well-developed flowers [24]. According to the soil and plant analyses before
37 treatment application (Table 1) and the plant analyses after treatment application (Table 3),
38 and according to [4], the N concentration in flower and stem is lower than what is required by
39 the plant, but in the foliage, it is similar.

40

41 **4. CONCLUSION**

42

43 As conclusion, the fertilization dosage 216-00-00 kg ha⁻¹ NPK was the best to favor Red
44 Ginger yield. With this dosage, the largest SD and FD, as well as the highest CBDW and TB
45 per plant, were obtained. With the exception of treatment 00-10-178 for which NPK content
46 in leaf was higher than the recommended level, the fertilization dosages evaluated did not
47 have an effect on the level of N or K in rhizome or flower, nor on N or P in the stem. The
48 NPK fertilization effects were observed on the content of K in stem and of P in flower,
49 rhizome and leaf.

50

51

52 **REFERENCES**

- 53 1. Kobayashi DK, McEwen J, Kaufman JA. Ornamental ginger, red and pink. Univ Hawai'i
54 - Coll Trop Agr Hum Res. 2007;37:1-8.
- 55 2. Saldaña HMI, Gómez-Álvarez R, Rivera-Cruz MdelC, Álvarez-Solís JD, Pat-Fernández
56 JM, Ortiz-García CF. The influence of organic fertilizers on the chemical properties of

- 57 soil and the production of *Alpinia purpurata*. *Cienc Investig Agrar*. 2014;41(2):215-224.
58 DOI: 10.4067/S0718-16202014000200008
- 59 3. Cárdenas NR, Sánchez YJM, Farías RR, Peña CJJ. Los aportes de nitrógeno en la
60 agricultura. *Rev Chapingo Ser Hort*. 2004;10(2):173-178. Spanish.
- 61 4. Bertsch HF. Absorción de nutrimentos por los cultivos. San José, Costa Rica:
62 Asociación Costarricense de la Ciencia del Suelo; 2003.
- 63 5. Lamas DA. Floricultura tropical: tecnología de produção. Curso: Floricultura Tropical.
64 Técnicas de cultivo. Brasil. 2004.
- 65 6. Ahmad I, Asif M, Amjad A, Ahmad S. Fertilization enhances growth, yield, and
66 xanthophyll contents of marigold. *Turk J Agric For*. 2011;35:641-648. DOI: 10.3906/tar-
67 1005-995
- 68 7. Azcón BJ, Talón M. Fundamentos de Fisiología Vegetal. Edicions Universitat de
69 Barcelona. España: McGraw-Hill/Interamericana; 2000.
- 70 8. Taiz L, Zeiger E. *Plant Physiology*. 5th ed. Sunderland, Massachusetts. USA: Sinauer
71 Association Inc. Publishers. 2010.
- 72 9. Rezende EM, Jasmim MJ, De Sousa FE, Lima TJT, Cordeiro CAJ, Maciel PM.
73 Crescimento, florescimento e teores foliares de NPK em alpinia: influencia da
74 adubação e irrigação. *Rev Ceres*. 2006;53(310):569-578.
- 75 10. Haque MM, Rahman AKMM, Ahmed M, Masud MM, Sarker MMR. Effect of nitrogen
76 and potassium on the yield and quality of turmeric in hill Slope. *Int J Sust Crop Prod*.
77 2007;2(6):10-14.
- 78 11. García E. Modificaciones al sistema de clasificación climática de Köppen. Serie Libros,
79 No. 6. México. Instituto de Geografía. UNAM. 2004.
- 80 12. Palma LDJ, Cisneros DJ, Moreno CE, Rincón RJA. Plan de uso sustentable de los
81 suelos de Tabasco. 3ª Ed. Tabasco, México: Fundación Produce Tabasco - Colegio de
82 Postgraduados. 2006.

- 83 13. Martínez GA. Aspectos económicos del diseño y análisis de experimentos. D.F.,
84 México: Editorial Limusa. 1987.
- 85 14. Teixeira MCF, Loges V. Alpinia: Cultivo e comercializacao. Rev Bras Hortic Ornamental.
86 2008;14:9-14. Português (Brasil). DOI: 10.14295/rbho.v14i1.224.
- 87 15. Baptista DLP, Aparecida AEF, Duarte OPP, Rocha RT. Cultivo de flores tropicais.
88 Informe agropecuario. Departamento de Agricultura de la Universidad Federal de
89 Lavras. EPAMIG, Río de Janeiro, Brazil. 2005;26:62-72.
- 90 16. Morais FJE, Guedes deCJ, de Pinho J, Portela ON, Toledo CVA, de Melo SC.
91 Deficiência nutricional em bastão-do-imperador (*Etilingera elatior* (Jack) R. M. Smith):
92 Efeito na produção de matéria seca e índices biométricos. Cienc Agrotec Lavras.
93 2010;34(2):294-299. Português (Brasil). doi.org/10.1590/S1413-70542010000200004
- 94 17. Castro ACR, Loges V, Santos CA, Arruda CMFA, Souza de AFA, Gomes WL (2007)
95 Hastes florais de helicônia sob deficiência de macronutrientes. Pesqui Agropecu Bras
96 42(9): 1299-1306. Português (Brasil).
- 97 18. Finck A. Fertilizers and their efficient use. In: IFA (The International Fertilizer Industry
98 Association). IMC Fertilizer Group, Inc., U. S. A. 1991.
- 99 19. Marschner H. Mineral nutrition of higher plants. 2nd ed. New York, USA: Academic
100 Press. 2002.
- 101 20. Castro ACR, Aragao FAS, Loges V, Costa AS, Willadino LG, Castro MFA.
102 Macronutrients contents in two development phases of *Heliconia psittacorum* x *H.*
103 *spathocircinata* Golden Torch. Acta Hortic. 2011;886:283-286. doi.org/10.5935/1806-
104 6690.20150005
- 105 21. Loges V, Costa AS, Castro ACR, Castro MFA, Nogueira LC. Heliconia: Rhizome
106 propagation, shooting and clump area. Acta Hortic. 2011;886:277-281.
107 DOI: 10.17660/ActaHortic.2011.886.39

- 108 22. Rundell PW, Sharifi MR, Gibson AC, Esler KJ. Structural and physiological adaptation
109 to light environmental in Neotropical Heliconia (*Heliconiaceae*). J Trop Ecol.
110 1998;4:789-801. DOI: 10.1017/S0266467498000571
- 111 23. Domínguez LJ, Vieira FM. Cuidados na colheita e na pós-coleita das flores tropicais.
112 Palestra. Rev Bras Hortic Ornamental. 2008;14(1):29-34. Português (Brasil).
113 doi.org/10.14295/rbho.v14i1.228
- 114 24. González TM, Mogollón JN. Fertilización nitrogenada sobre el crecimiento y desarrollo
115 de la inflorescencia en plantas de *Alpinia purpurata* (Vieill.) K. Schum. 'Jungle King'
116 provenientes de cultivo in vitro y de sección de rizoma. Rev Fac Agron LUZ.
117 2001;18:124-134. Español.

Comment [U26]: Formatt the references, use punctuation where necessary